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L. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Based on Plaintiffs’ pleading of their claims,! the district court’s
jurisdiction rests on 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343(a)(3), and 1357, as well as
42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988. On October 11, 2016, the district court
issued the Order on appeal. ER0001-17.2 On Saturday, October 15,
2016, Plaintiffs timely appealed pursuant to FRAP 3 and 4, and this
Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1292(a)(1), as the district

court’s order is an interlocutory order denying an injunction.

1 Defendant-Intervenor the Arizona Republican Party (“Party”) moved
to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaint and Intervenor-Plaintiff’s
Complaint-in-Intervention, which joined in and incorporated by
reference the Amended Complaint, and the individual Defendant-
Intervenors Bill Gates, Suzanne Klapp, Debbie Lesko, and Tony Rivero
(“Candidates”) joined in the motion to dismiss. See ER3941, at Doc. 128.
That motion remains pending before the district court. See ER3939, at
Doc. 108; ER3951, at Doc. 215. The Party and Candidates throughout
refer to Plaintiffs and Intervenor-Plaintiff Bernie, 2016, Inc.,
collectively as Plaintiffs.

2 The Party and Candidates continue Plaintiffs’ numbering and
chronology (using chronological instead of reverse-chronological order,
as Plaintiffs did) of the Excerpts of Record, with Supplemental Excerpts
of Record Volume XX, filed concurrently herewith. As agreed upon with
Plaintiffs’ counsel, and as a courtesy to Plaintiffs, the Party and
Candidates include the supplemental expert report of one of Plaintiffs’
experts with the Supplemental Excerpts of Record, without conceding
that it is relevant or necessary for this Court’s decision.
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II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1.  Whether the district court abused its discretion in finding
Plaintiffs unlikely to succeed on their claims that Arizona’s out-of-
precinct (“OOP”) voting regulations violate Section 2 of the Voting
Rights Act?

2. Whether the district court abused its discretion in finding
Plaintiffs unlikely to succeed on their claims that Arizona’s regulation
of out-of-precinct voting violates the Fourteenth Amendment?

3.  Whether the district court abused its discretion in
concluding that Arizona’s rejection of provisional ballots cast OOP did
not cause Plaintiffs irreparable harm and that the balance of hardships
and public interest weighed against issuance of a preliminary
injunction?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs brought this action in April 2016 challenging Arizona’s
reasonable and standard regulation of “OOP ballots under the Voting
Rights Act of 1965 (VRA) and the Fourteenth Amendment of the United
States Constitution.” ERO0003. Specifically, Plaintiffs asserted that

Arizona’s regulation of out-of-precinct Election Day voting—which has
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been in place for nearly five decades—violated Section 2 of the Voting
Rights Act and the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution. /d.

Almost two months later, Plaintiffs moved, based on those claims,
to preliminarily enjoin the State3 from not counting provisional ballots
cast out-of-precinct and for “a mandatory preliminary injunction
preventing Arizona from rejecting OOP ballots for the races in which
the voter 1s eligible to vote.” ER0003. Discovery, including expert
discovery, and motion practice ensued, oral argument occurred on
September 2, 2016, and on October 11, 2016, the district court denied
Plaintiffs’ motion. ER0001-17.

The district court found that Plaintiffs were unlikely to succeed on
the merits of their claims. Specifically, it found that:

Plaintiffs have not satisfied their heavy burden for obtaining

a mandatory preliminary injunction. Plaintiffs have not

shown that Arizona’s rejection of OOP ballots likely results

In a cognizable disparity in the electoral opportunities of

minority as compared to white voters. Nor have they shown

that the practice more than minimally burdens voting rights.

Further, Arizona has required voters to cast ballots in their

correct precinct since at least 1970, and the data upon which
Plaintiffs rely has been available since at least 2008.

3 As discussed infra, Plaintiffs did not sue or join defendants from any
other county in Arizona, despite the fact that most of them use a
precinct-based system for elections and, consequently, also do not count
provisional ballots cast out-of-precinct. See A.R.S. § 16-122.
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Plaintiffs delay in challenging the practice implies a lack of
urgency and undermines the need for immediate mandatory
injunctive relief during the waning months of an election

year. (ER0016.)

Plaintiffs appealed this ruling, but the district court’s decision
should be affirmed. As recognized by the district court, the regulations
have been in place, without issue, for nearly 50 years; for each election
Arizona has held this year, including a Special Election in May 2016
and 1its most recent Primary Election in August 2016; and—
importantly—the imminent General Election is premised upon their
remaining in place. ER0001-17. Any changes or mandatory
requirements at this last stage of the 2016 election cycle will cause
significant hardship to local candidates, including the individual
Defendant-Intervenor Candidates, who depend on the OOP regulatory
scheme to ensure an orderly and fair election. Therefore, Arizona’s
regulation of OOP voting, for which the underlying statutes and
regulations are not even challenged by Plaintiffs, should not be enjoined

with a General Election imminent, or at all.
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IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Arizona Adopts Its Regulation of Out-of-Precinct Voting
Nearly Fifty Years Ago.

“Since at least 1970, Arizona has required voters to cast ballots in
their assigned precinct and has enforced this system by counting only
those ballots cast in the correct precinct.” ER0002; see also Dkt. Entry
2-1, at 4, fn. 3. Not counting local municipal and special elections, at
least 33 elections have occurred under the OOP voting system without
Plaintiffs, or the U.S. Department of Justice,4 raising an issue as to the
administration of elections in this manner (which they only did in April
of this election year) or challenging the actual state laws—including
A.R.S. §§ 16-122, 16-411 and 16-584, and the relevant portions of the

Arizona Elections Procedure Manual, (ER0449-457, “Manual,”)>—

4 Arizona was under Voting Rights Act § 5 preclearance review until the
Supreme Court invalidated the preclearance scheme in Shelby County
v. Holder, 133 S. Ct. 2612 (2013). In 2006, the particular statutes
related to out-of-precinct regulation of voting were revised to
accommodate provisions of the Help America Vote Act (HAVA), 52
U.S.C. § 21082, and to allow counties the choice of utilizing voting
centers. These changes to the OOP system were required to be and were
approved by DOJ. ER0020.

5 The Manual, which was developed with and is updated via input from
the county recorders in Arizona, and approved by the Arizona Secretary
of State, the Governor, and the Attorney General, has the force of law.
A.R.S. § 16-452. As discussed infra, the Governor, Attorney General,
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mandating such administration (which they still have not done).

It is undisputed that when a voter arrives at the wrong polling
location in an Arizona county that uses the precinct model,® that voter
cannot receive the correct ballot with all races in which he or she is
eligible to vote. ER0002, ER2148-49. If the voter nevertheless chooses to
cast a provisional ballot in that wrong precinct, that ballot will not be
counted pursuant to A.R.S. § 16-122, a statute for which Plaintiffs do
not challenge. ER0002-03.

Since 2011, the State has allowed each county to choose whether
to conduct elections under a precinct model or “vote center” system.
2011 Ariz. Legis. Serv. Ch. 331 (H.B. 2303) (April 29, 2011) (amending
A.R.S. § 16-411). In a precinct model, which Arizona and multiple other
states have long used successfully, voters must vote within their
designated precinct for their votes to be counted. ER 1867-70; see also

AR.S. §§ 16-122, 16-584(C), -584(E); Sandusky Cty. Democratic Party v.

and parties representing all other counties in Arizona other than
Maricopa County, are not named as defendants for purposes of
Plaintiffs’ OOP claims. Contrary to Plaintiffs’ assertions, Doc. 11 at 7,
this failure to name the correct parties is a threshold issue.

6 A small number of Arizona counties have used vote centers, which
allow voters to show up at any polling location in that county and
receive the correct ballot. ER0003. Plaintiffs do not ask for an
Injunction requiring all counties to use vote centers.



Case: 16-16865, 10/24/2016, ID: 10171918, DktEntry: 18, Page 16 of 71

Blackwell, 387 F.3d 565, 568 & n.1 (6th Cir. 2004) (“at least 27 of the
states using a precinct voting system”). If a voter declines to go to the
correct polling place and instead demands to cast a provisional ballot
outside his or her precinct in a county using a precinct model, that
provisional ballot will not be counted. See Id. Plaintiffs admitted in
their pleadings below that OOP provisional ballots have been rejected
in Arizona since at least 2006. ER0136.

Under a vote-center system, voters are permitted to vote at any
designated vote center in the county in which they live and “receive the
appropriate ballot.” A.R.S. § 16-411(B)(4). In this relatively new and
untested model, each vote center must be equipped to print a specific
ballot depending on the voter’s particular district that includes all races
in which that voter is eligible to vote. ER1873. The vote-center model
thus creates administrative and logistical burdens not associated with
the traditional precinct model. Id. Indeed, a bipartisan federal
commission has recommended treading lightly before moving to vote
centers, which “are not appropriate for every jurisdiction.” ER1934.

The March 22, 2016, presidential preference election (“PPE”) was

the first time Maricopa County used vote centers. ER 1877, 1881-82.
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Much of Plaintiffs’ evidence below concerned the burdens that Plaintiffs
or other voters allegedly faced in the PPE, such as long lines at the
centers. ER0132-39. Plaintiffs have since settled with Maricopa County
their polling place allocation claims, however, resulting in no changes in
the current Election Day administration system. ER4068-71.

In any event, Maricopa County used identical precincts in the
2012 and 2014 general elections, with no more than one polling place
per precinct. ER1885, ER2454, ER2462. A significant majority of the
actual polling places will also be the same. ER2462. Because these
precincts have been in place for several years,” they previously received
DOJ approval, without any objection as to Arizona’s policy of not
counting ballots cast out-of-precinct. ER0020.

B. Plaintiffs File Their Challenge.

Plaintiffs filed their Complaint in April 2016 challenging Arizona’s

7 As discussed in Defendant-Intervenors’ Motion to Dismiss below,
Plaintiffs’ request for a preliminary injunction requiring all Arizona
counties (most of which are not parties to this case) to count out-of-
precinct provisional ballots is barred by laches. See ER3961-62; Ariz.
Libertarian Party v. Reagan, --- F. Supp. 3d ---, CV-16-0109-PHX-DGC,
2016 WL 3029929, at *2 (D. Ariz. May 27, 2016) (discussing application
of laches in election matters). Despite admitting that the out-of-precinct
voting restriction has been in place since at least 2006, ER0136,
Plaintiffs’ Motion provided no justification for the years of delay in
raising this issue.
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practice of regulating the counting of OOP ballot under the VRA and
the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. ER0003.
Plaintiffs only brought their OOP claim against Defendants Arizona
Secretary of State and Maricopa County, even though the choice
regarding precinct-based voting and, thus, OOP regulation, is within
the jurisdiction of each county. ER0058; see A.R.S. § 16-411. Plaintiffs
also did not challenge any specific Arizona statute or regulation related
to the OOP regulatory scheme. ER0059-66.

Instead, Plaintiffs seek a mandatory preliminary injunction that
would require Arizona to count OOP ballots for those races in which a
voter was eligible to vote (e.g., presidential, statewide, and countywide
races). ER0003. The relief requested is for the counties—all but one of
which are not parties—to develop a system within a limited time to
count the votes for election contests in which voters would have been
eligible had they voted in the correct precinct, benefiting the two named
candidate Plaintiffs while hurting the individual Candidates. ER1871-
1883.

Thus, Defendant-Intervenors—the Party and Candidates—

intervened. Indeed, local candidates would be particularly affected by
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changes to OOP practices, as such changes would directly affect the
number of voters eligible to vote in “down-ballot” races like those being
run by the candidates. /d. Specifically, they will be harmed by the
potential loss of voters who are confused by a modified system or that
vote OOP under modified OOP rules, thus making themselves ineligible
for “down ballot” races. /d. As such, the district court granted the
motions to intervene. ER0002.

Subsequently, almost two months after filing their initial
Complaint, on dJune 10, 2016, Plaintiffs filed their Motion for
Preliminary Injunction seeking a mandatory injunction related to
Arizona’s OOP practices, while not challenging any specific law or
regulation. ER0126-62.

C. The District Court Enters Its Order.

On October 11, 2016, the district court entered its Order denying
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Preliminary Injunction on their Provisional Ballot
Claims, which had been fully briefed and orally argued after discovery,
including expert discovery. ER0001-17. The district court held Plaintiffs
have not satisfied their heavy burden for obtaining a mandatory

preliminary injunction and would not likely succeed on the merits.

10
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ER0010. Simply, Plaintiffs failed to present adequate evidence to reflect
that Arizona’s long-standing and reasonable regulation of OOP ballots
likely results in a cognizable disparity in the electoral opportunities of
minority as compared to white voters. /d. Plaintiffs also did not present
adequate evidence to show they would succeed on the merits of their
constitutional claims because the OOP regulatory scheme does no more
than minimally burden voting rights. ER0013-14.

Further, in a clear recognition of the undue delay by Plaintiffs in
bringing this action, the district court recognized that the balance of
hardships 1s against Plaintiffs since Arizona has required voters to cast
ballots in their correct precinct since at least 1970, and the data upon
which Plaintiffs rely has been available since at least 2008. ER0014-16.
Thus, Plaintiffs’ need for expedited relief was undermined by the lack of
urgency, especially balanced against the significant impact that will be
caused by any mandated changes this close to the General Election. /d.

D. Plaintiffs Notice this Appeal.

Plaintiffs did not file their notice of appeal until October 15, 2016.
ER3951, at Doc. 216. Plaintiffs then waited until after close of business

on October 18, 2016—the night before oral argument before this Court

11
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in a related appeal from an earlier order in the same case—to file their
“Emergency Motion” seeking an injunction pending appeal and
expedited review. Dkt. Entry 2-1.

E. A General Election is Imminent; Precinct Designations Have
Long Been Set and Voters Have Notice of Them.

The various counties have long planned for the 2016 General
Election. ER0015-16. The precincts are set and will almost be 1dentical
to the precincts used for the May 2016 Special Election and the August
2016 Primary Election. ER2462. Because of Plaintiffs’ delay, however, if
relief is provided, the county election officials will only have a very short
time between now and the 2016 General Election to determine a
manual process for counting OOP ballots in this manner, appropriate
the necessary resources to adhere to the ruling, and ensure proper
training. ERO0015-16. The district court found that this will be
“significantly burdensome” and will “impose substantial costs” on the
county election officials who are not part of this case. /d. Furthermore,
it will be extremely burdensome on local candidates who will need to
shift resources to ensure that voters cast ballots in the correct precinct.

ER1871-1883.
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Therefore, with the General Election imminent, this case 1is
presently in a procedural and factual posture nearly identical to Purcell
v. Gonzalez, 549 U.S. 1, 4-6 (2006). There, the Supreme Court vacated
interim relief ordered by this Court and allowed a general election to go
forward with the challenged law in effect. /d at 4-5 (“Court orders
affecting elections, especially conflicting orders, can themselves result
in voter confusion and consequent incentive to remain away from the
polls.”); see also id. at 6 (Stevens, J., concurring) (stating that
“la]llowing the election to proceed without enjoining the statutory
provisions at issue will provide the courts with a better record on which
to judge their constitutionality,” and that the court’s action would
“enhance the likelihood that [the constitutional issues] will be resolved
correctly on the basis of historical facts rather than speculation”).

In Purcell, the plaintiffs sought to enjoin enforcement of Arizona
requirements of (1) documentary evidence of citizenship to register, and
(2) identification to vote at a polling place on Election Day, which in
2006 fell on November 7. Id. at 2-3. This Court granted the injunction
pending appeal on October 5, 2006, more than a month before the

election. /d. at 3. To avoid the confusion caused by changing the rules of
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an election shortly before it took place, the Supreme Court vacated the
interim relief on October 20, 2006. /d. at 5. Here, the concerns about
changing the rules so close to an election are even more pronounced,
because OOP affects the entire administration of the election, how
voters expect the election to proceed, and how local candidates expend

resources to ensure an opportunity to be elected.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs simply disagree with the district court’s factual findings
and weighing of evidence presented during the expedited preliminary
injunction proceedings. To attempt to obtain a de novo review from this
Court, Plaintiffs couch their appeal as legal error. This is not correct.
Rather, the district court reviewed all the evidence presented—even
evidence that was presented for the first time with reply briefs—
welghed the evidence, and determined that Plaintiffs did not meet their
burden that they would factually succeed on the merits of their claims.
These findings are clearly within the discretion of the district court.

In weighing the evidence, the district court correctly determined
that the statistical evidence presented did not meet Plaintiffs’ “heavy”

burden to show they would likely succeed on the merits of the case.
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ER0016.

Plaintiffs failed to show that Arizona’s OOP regulatory scheme
“likely results in a cognizable disparity in the electoral opportunities of
minority as compared to white voters” to support a § 2 claim at trial on
the merits. ER0016. Furthermore, the district court correctly weighed
the presented evidence and determined that when taking into account
the entire election scheme and the significant conveniences provided to
voters in Arizona to encourage voting, the OOP practice did not “more
than minimally burden voting rights.” /d. These district court findings,
based on the evidence presented, are supported by a long line of cases
including Crawford v. Marion County FElection Board, 553 U.S. 181,
200-02 (2008); Ohio Democratic Party v. Husted, --- F.3d ---, No. 16-
3561, 2016 WL 4437605, at ** 7-8, 12 (6th Cir. Aug. 23, 2016); Frank v.
Walker, 768 F.3d 744, 745-46 (7th Cir. 2014); and this Court’s en banc
decision in Gonzalez v. Arizona, 677 F.3d 383, 406-10 (9th Cir. 2012) (en
banc).

Therefore, as the district court’s findings are entitled to deference
and Plaintiffs have failed to show that the district court somehow

abused its discretion, this Court should affirm the ruling of the district
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court denying Plaintiffs their requested preliminary injunction.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the denial of a preliminary injunction for
abuse of discretion. Perfect 10, Inc. v. Amazon.com, Inc., 508 F.3d 1146,
1157 (9th Cir. 2007). “Factual findings are reviewed for clear error, and
legal conclusions are reviewed de novo.” Fox Broad. Co. v. Dish Network
L.L.C, 747 F.3d 1060, 1066 (9th Cir. 2013). This Court’s determination
that it “would have arrived at a different result if it had applied the law
to the facts of the case” is not cause for reversal. Sports Form, Inc. v.
United Press Intl Inc., 686 F.2d 750, 752 (9th Cir. 1982); see also
Garcia v. Google, Inc., 786 F.3d 733, 739 (9th Cir. 2015); United States
v. Hinkson, 585 F.3d 1247, 1261-62 (9th Cir. 2009) (en banc).

In fact, the “review 1s limited and deferential.” Sw. Voter
Registration Educ. Project v. Shelley, 344 F.3d 914, 918 (9th Cir. 2003).
This Court has “held that an order ‘will be reversed only if the district
court relied on an erroneous legal premise or abused its discretion.” /d.
It does “not review the underlying merits of the case.” /d. (internal

punctuation omitted).
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Here, Plaintiffs do not dispute how the district court reached its
legal conclusions (7.e., what legal test to apply), but rather object to the
district court’s factual findings and how it applied the law to the facts
that have existed in some form for at least the past 46 years. Dkt. Entry
2-1, at 8-12; Dkt. Entry 11, at 1-4. As reflected infra, the district court’s
factual findings are entitled to deference on appeal so long as they were
not clearly erroneous. And they were not. The district court’s decision
should thus be afforded that deference, and it should be
affirmed. Gonzalez, 677 F.3d at 406-07; Sw. Voter Registration Fduc.
Project, 344 F.3d at 918 (“[Olrder ‘will be reversed only if the district
court relied on an erroneous legal premise or abused its discretion.”).

This Court in Gonzalez specifically agreed with this standard of
review and deferred “to the district court's superior fact-finding
capabilities,” reviewing for clear error the district court's findings of
fact, “including its ultimate finding whether, under the totality of the
circumstances, the challenged practice violates § 2.” Gonzalez, 677 F.3d
at 406, citing Old Person v. Cooney, 230 F.3d 1113, 1119 (9th Cir. 2000).
In fact, in Gonzalez, this Court reviewed the exact legal analysis

utilized by the district court here and determined that there was no
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clear error in concluding that plaintiff in that case failed to establish
the election statute at issue had a disparate impact on a minority. /d.,
at 406-07. The same standard of review is therefore applicable.

B. The District Court Properly Found Plaintiffs Unlikely to
Succeed on the Merits of Their Voting Rights Act Claim, as
the Regulation of Out-of-Precinct Voting Does Not Violate
Section 2.

The district court properly found that Plaintiffs failed to show a
likelihood of success on their Section 2 claim, which has two essential
elements: (1) a challenged voting practice imposes a discriminatory
burden on a minority group (2) as it interacts with social and historical
conditions that have produced discrimination. See Gonzalez, 677 F.3d
at 405-06;8 52 U.S.C. § 10301; see also Husted, 2016 WL 4437605, at
**13-14. As the district court properly found, Plaintiffs failed to present

the necessary evidence at both steps.

8 In their Emergency Motion for Injunction Pending Appeal (Dkt. Entry
2-1) and Reply in Support of the same (Dkt. Entry 11), Plaintiffs largely
1ignore this Circuit’s law in Gonzalez, instead citing to the § 2 analysis of
League of Women Voters of N.C. v. North Carolina (“LOWYV?), 769 F.3d
224 (4th Cir. 2014), which decision is founded upon significantly
different well-developed facts and from another circuit.
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1.  Plaintiffs Failed to Show a Disparate Impact on Any
Minority Group, and Failed to Show that the
Challenged Practice Caused Any Claimed Disparity.

The district court correctly concluded that Plaintiffs failed to
produce the necessary evidence to show the requisite disparate impact
to meet the first step of the § 2 test for two independent reasons, each of
which was backed by substantial § 2 legal authority and the entire
record below. ER0004-10.

a. Plaintiffs Failed to Establish Any Disparity
Cognizable Under § 2.

The district court made factual findings, which are entitled to
deference, that because “OOP ballots represent such a small fraction of
the overall votes cast in any given election, . . . OOP ballot rejection
likely has no meaningful impact on the opportunities of minority as
compared to white voters to elect their preferred representatives.”
ER0008 (emphasis added); see also Osburn v. Cox, 369 F.3d 1283, 1289
(11th Cir. 2004) (vote-denial claim under § 2 requires “the exclusion of
the minority group from meaningful access to the political process”)
(emphasis added). The district court further explained—and Plaintiffs
do not dispute—that in the 2012 General Election, only 0.5% of the total

ballots cast were OOP ballots. ER0008. Even assuming that Plaintiffs’
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expert on this issue (Dr. Jonathan Rodden, a non-statistician) correctly
estimated the race of Arizona voters through surname data, which is a
matter of dispute,? “OOP ballots cast by white voters accounted for only
0.3% of all votes cast during the 2012 election, whereas OOP ballots
cast by Hispanic and African American voters accounted only for 0.13%
and 0.07%, respectively.” /d.

These miniscule percentages by themselves make it impossible to
ascertain whether the differences reflect actual racial disparities or are
simply the result of an unavoidable margin of error. See ER2266-68
(highlighting accuracy issues in predicting voter race), ER3652
(admission by Dr. Rodden that “race predictions will never be perfect”).
Underscoring this, Dr. Rodden provided no information on his rate of
error in predicting voter race. ER0146-47, ER0314-408. Dr. Rodden
admitted in his deposition that the documents he reviewed did not
actually identify voters’ race. ER2025. He claimed he predicted each

voter’s race by using a statistical algorithm available online—that he

9 All Defendants disputed that Dr. Rodden used accurate or reliable
methods. See ER1855-57, 61; ER2243-81 (similar).
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then admitted he had no part in developing. ER1856-57, 2025.10 Again,
Dr. Rodden provided no information on the algorithm’s margin of error,
nor did he attempt to verify its accuracy as to Arizona voters. /d. And
the individuals who did create the algorithm have not offered any
evidence in this case to establish its reliability.

This matters—and the district court properly honed in on it—
because Dr. Rodden cannot serve as the spokesman for a statistical
formula that is not his own. “The expert witness must in the end be
giving his own opinion. He cannot simply be a conduit for the opinion of
an unproduced expert.” Malletier v. Dooney & Bourke, Inc., 525 F.
Supp. 2d 558, 664 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (individual’s “occasional use of
statistics in his daily life simply does not qualify him as an expert on

that complex subject”).!l With no other evidence on disparate impact

10 Although Dr. Rodden contended that he sometimes used statistics in
his work, he does not have a statistics degree, last took a formal
statistics course about 16 years ago, does not describe himself
professionally as a statistician, and is not a member of the American
Statistical Association, the “[plrofessional association for people who
focus on statistics as their profession.” ER2022-24.

11 See also In re Whirlpool Corp. Front-Loading Washer Prods., 45 F.
Supp. 3d 724, 741 (N.D. Ohio 2014) (“non-statistician [was] unqualified
to say” that another’s “statistical analysis [was] valid”); TK-7 Corp. v.
Estate of Barbouti, 993 F.2d 722,732 (10th Cir. 1993) (expert testimony
excluded when he “clearly adopted the projections” of another, thus
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and no way to determine if a meaningful disparate impact actually
exists (because of the lack of margin of error combined with alleged low
disparate rates opined on by Plaintiffs’ expert), the district court
correctly determined that Plaintiffs’ § 2 claim necessarily fails.!2

Thus the district court properly weighed the evidence available
and concluded that Arizona’s practice of rejecting OOP ballots had not
resulted in any “meaningful impact” on the opportunities of minority
groups to elect their preferred representatives.” ER0008.

The post-trial decision in Gonzalez v. Arizona, No. CV-06-1268-
PHX-ROS (D. Ariz Aug. 20, 2008), which was affirmed by this Court in
relevant part, is on point in supporting the district court’s order in this
case. ER2330-78; see also Gonzalez, 677 F.3d at 407. After trial, the
evidence in Gonzalez showed that if Proposition 200 were not enacted, it

might potentially allow the total Latino electorate to increase by 0.1%

“assum[ing] the very matter at issue on which he was called to express
his opinion”).

12 Dr. Rodden also compared the locations of OOP votes to racial data at
the census block level, but he admitted this analysis “may fall prey to
so-called aggregation bias.” ER0347. The other evidence cited by
Plaintiffs for an alleged disparate impact, ER0147, does not provide
data on out-of-precinct provisional ballots. ER0720 (hearsay evidence
relating to total number of rejected provisional ballots); ER0767
(statistics on total number of provisional ballots cast).)
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and Latino voter turnout to increase by 0.06%. ER2370. Because the
plaintiffs in Gonzalez could only estimate which voters were Latino (as
Dr. Rodden did in this case), the district court concluded that the
miniscule percentages relating to the claimed impact on minority voters
were “subsumed by the uncertainty associated with the original
1dentification of who is and is not Latino.” ER2371. The plaintiffs in
that case thus failed to show a “statistically significant disparate
impact.” Id.; see also Gonzalez, 677 F.3d at 406 (internal quotations and
citation omitted)(recognizing that the district court concluded that the
voter ID law did not violate Section 2 since it did “not have a
statistically significant disparate impact on Latino voters.”). As this
case Involves similar miniscule percentages and no error rate to
evaluate the veracity of the statistical analysis, the same is true here.
Despite this, Plaintiffs argue that a § 2 violation can be
established if any minority voter is denied the equal opportunity to
vote. Dkt. Entry 2-1, at 9; Dkt. Entry 11, at 2. Plaintiffs desire that this
then becomes a legal issue and not a factual i1ssue for which the district
court is otherwise entitled to deference and discretion. That is not

correct. The determination of the weight of the evidence, including the
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utilization of statistical data, is a matter left in the discretion of the
district court in determining whether to grant preliminary injunction.
See Gonzalez, 677 F.3d at 406-407.

Furthermore, Plaintiffs’ argument that “any” impact is required
defies both logic and the evidence and argument they presented to the
district court.!3 Specifically, if “any” impact is the standard, Plaintiffs
would not even have to provide statistical data for the district court’s
consideration. See ER0146. Instead, a plaintiff could provide only
anecdotal evidence from individual voters reflecting that (1) they are a
member of minority class and (2) the OOP regulations interact with the
alleged social and historical conditions so that individual voter is denied
the right to vote. This rationale is more akin to an Equal Protection
claim under the Fourteenth Amendment, on which Plaintiffs also fail to
meet their burden, as discussed infra. Interestingly, Plaintiffs’ entire
Complaint, on all claims, i1s completely void of such evidence by
individuals that are actually directly impacted. Instead, as to the OOP

§2 claim, Plaintiffs provided statistical analysis only, and now object to

13 Interestingly, in regard to Plaintiffs’ H.B. 2023 claims, they argued
below and before this Court in the related case (No. 16-16698) that no
quantitative evidence is actually needed.

24



Case: 16-16865, 10/24/2016, ID: 10171918, DktEntry: 18, Page 34 of 71

how the district court evaluated and weighed the evidence. See ER0146.

Plaintiffs’ reliance on LOWYV is misplaced. Dkt. Entry 2-1, at 9;
Dkt. Entry 11, at 2. In stark contrast to this case, LOWYV involved
source data where the race of voters was actually known and readily
available; accordingly, expert estimates of race, and their unavoidable
measurement error, were not required in that case. See LOWYV, 769
F.3d at 244; see also Doc. 117-2 in United States v. North Carolina, No.
1:13-CV-861 (M.D.N.C.) at 97 (discussing source data for disparate
impact calculations). Particularly, the district court in LOWYV “accepted
the determinations of plaintiffs’ experts that” African-American voters
disproportionately voted out-of-precinct. LOWYV, 769 F.3d at 233. This
was easy for the LOWYV plaintiffs to do and was not speculative, as the
actual data was readily available on the North Carolina OOP
provisional balloting practices because, by that state’s law at the time,
the provisional ballots were accepted. Id.; see also Dkt. Entry 11, at 7
(referencing how OOP ballots were accepted in North Carolina, and
therefore easily categorized). The district court did not accept such
determinations here and, with good reason, did not credit Plaintiffs’

expert’s algorithm and results (especially without a stated margin of
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error), making the actual data in LOWYV a significant distinguishing
factor for that case from another circuit. /d.

Here, as stated infra, Plaintiffs’ expert Dr. Rodden predicted each
voter’s race by using a statistical algorithm available online that he had
no part in developing. ER1856-57, 2025.14 Dr. Rodden did not provide
any information on the algorithm’s margin of error, nor did he attempt
to verify its accuracy as to Arizona voters. ER3757-58, at 177:19-22,
178:9-17.

The district court’s decision 1s, therefore, in line with direction
from Congress and the history of § 2 cases. The plain language of the
statute specifically mandates a comparison between minority voters
and white voters. See 52 U.S.C. § 10301 (employing quantifying and
comparative phrases, including “on account of race or color” and “not
equally open”). The very nature of the term “disparate impact”
implicates a comparative factual exercise with meaningful quantitative
data, as recognized in this Court’s cases outside the voting rights
context. See Budnick v. Town of Carefree, 518 F.3d 1109, 1118 (9th Cir.

2008) (Fair Housing Act); Pottenger v. Potlatch Corp., 329 F.3d 740, 749

14 Again, as referenced in footnote 10, supra, Dr. Rodden’s statistical
bona fides are questionable. ER2022-24.
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(9th Cir. 2003) (Age Discrimination in Employment Act). While
Plaintiffs have even argued in the related case (No. 16-16698) that the
remedial purpose of the VRA means no quantitative evidence is
necessary, their authorities are remarkably distinguishable. Here,
Plaintiffs cite Chisom v. Roemer, 501 U.S. 380, 397 (1991), and at 407-
08 (Scalia, J., dissenting) for the proposition that they have met their
burden to show a disparate impact. Dkt. Entry 11, n.1. The Chisom
court cited this purpose, however, in the different context of Section 2 as
applied to a vote-di/ution claim relating to state judicial elections. See
Chisom, 501 U.S. at 403-04.

Congress specifically targeted the remedial nature of § 2 at
practices that disparately impact minorities, not practices felt just as
much (or even more) by white voters. See 52 U.S.C. 10301(b); Husted,
2016 WL 4437605, at **13-14. Thus, without evidence to show the
rejection of OOP ballots results in “some relevant statistical disparity
between minorities and whites,” Plaintiffs fail to show a likelihood of
success on their § 2 claim. Gonzalez, 677 F.3d at 405; see also Smith v.
Salt River Project Agric. Improvement & Power Dist., 109 F.3d 586, 595

(9th Cir. 1997) (“[A] bare statistical showing of disproportionate impact
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on a racial minority does not satisfy the § 2 ‘results’ inquiry.”).

Plaintiffs further contend that the district court erred in assessing
the claimed statistical disparities in relation to total votes cast rather
than just in-person votes.!®> Dkt. Entry 2-1, at 10; Dkt. Entry 11, at 2.
They then contradict this argument, however, by repeatedly arguing
that § 2 requires consideration of a “totality of the circumstances.” /d. at
12, 16; cf Husted, 2016 WL 4437605, at *6 (analyzing claimed burden
from election regulation in context of state’s entire voting system); see
also ER0146 (recognizing the totality of circumstances standard).
Plaintiffs again ignore the statutory text of § 2, which makes clear that
a violation only occurs when, among other things, the challenged
practice give a minority group “less opportunity” to “elect
representatives of their choice.” 52 U.S.C. 10301(b). Only through
consideration and comparison of total votes cast can a court determine

whether minorities have the same substantial opportunity “to elect

15 Again, Plaintiffs’ claim this is legal error. This is not correct. Rather,
1t 1s a well-taken review and balancing of the facts and factors at
issue—an exercise fully within the purview of the district court and for
which its review is entitled to deference. Gonzalez, 677 F¥.3d at 406-7.
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representatives of their choice.” /d.16

Moreover, and contrary to Plaintiffs’ assertion (Dkt. Entry 2-1, at
10), the Fifth Circuit’s decision in Veasey v. Abbott, 830 F.3d 216 (5th
Cir. 2016), does not support Plaintiffs’ argument that the district court
should have only considered in-person votes. Veasey merely stated that,
for purposes of assessing the specific burden on plaintiffs of a law that
required voters to show identification to vote in-person, “mail-in voting
1s not an acceptable substitute for in-person voting in the circumstances
presented by this case” Veasey, 830 F.3d at 255 (emphasis added).
Moreover, in discussing the quantitative evidence on disparate impact,

the Fifth Circuit addresses evidence on al/l registered voters, not just

16 Plaintiffs contend that “many voters are never told that their OOP
ballots will be discarded,” citing an under advisement ruling in Jones v.
Reagan, No. CV-2016-014708, at 5 (Ariz. Super. Ct. Sept. 9, 2016). Dkt.
Entry 2-1, at 11. But unlike this case, the Maricopa County Superior
Court in Jones was not addressing a §2 claim and explicitly stated that
“[tIhe issue is not the State’s policy of rejecting all provisional ballots
cast by voters at the wrong precinct.” Jones, No. CV-2016-014708, at 5.
(Emphasis added). And, regardless of what evidence may have been
presented in state court in Jones, the district court in this case rejected
any contention that Arizona has any systemic issues with voters being
provided incorrect information concerning OOP ballots. See ER0012
(“poll workers are trained to tell voters if they are at the wrong polling
place and to give voters information about their correct polling place”).
Plaintiffs cannot show that this factual finding was clearly erroneous
and it actually supports the district court’s order.
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those voters who used in-person voting. See 1d. at 250-51.

Likewise, Plaintiffs’ conclusory effort to negate the extensive
outreach by governmental agencies to educate voters of their correct
precinct 1s misplaced and not supported by the record. Dkt. Entry 2-1,
at 11-12. The district court properly considered these extensive efforts,
ERO0012, in reviewing Arizona’s election system as a whole, including all
the various means of voting within a 27 day period before the election,!7
to decide that Plaintiffs had failed to carry their evidentiary burden in
regard to the existence of disparate impact.

b.  Plaintiffs Failed to Show That OOP Regulation
Caused Any Claimed Disparity.

In addition to presenting meaningful statistical comparison data
to show that any alleged burden is disproportionally felt by minorities,
a plaintiff must also show for step one of the § 2 test that the alleged
burden actually “result[s] in a denial or abridgement” of the opportunity

to vote. 52 U.S.C. § 10301(a). As the district court noted, a plaintiff

17 Plaintiffs ignore that under Arizona law, a voter can deliver an early
ballot at any polling place on the day of the election. A.R.S. § 16-548(A).
They further ignore the option to vote early and in-person at various
vote centers in a 27-day period before the election. ER2464-65. Voters
who use these options, or who mail in an early ballot, cannot be affected
by OOP regulation.

30



Case: 16-16865, 10/24/2016, ID: 10171918, DktEntry: 18, Page 40 of 71

must show that the challenged practice (e.g., OOP regulations) itself
likely causes the statistically disparity in denial of the vote. ERO0OS.
This Court stated the requirement succinctly in Gonzalez which held “a
§ 2 challenge based purely on a showing of some relevant statistical
disparity between minorities and whites, without any evidence that the
challenged voting qualification causes that disparity, will be rejected.”
677 F.3d at 405 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Minimal inconveniences on voting do not satisfy the causal
requirement to violate § 2. Frank, 768 F.3d at 753 (photo ID
requirement that did not make it “needlessly hard” to vote did not
violate § 2); Jacksonville Coal. for Voter Prot. v. Hood, 351 F. Supp. 2d
1326, 1335 (M.D. Fla. 2004) (§ 2 requires “a denial of ‘meaningful access
to the political process™) (quoting Osburn v. Cox, 369 F.3d at 1289).

Here, as an alternative holding to Plaintiffs’ failure to provide a
meaningful and necessary comparative quantitative analysis to meet
the requisite heavy burden, the district court also concluded that even if
the minimal disparities discussed above were cognizable under § 2,
Plaintiffs failed to show that these disparities were actually likely

caused by Arizona’s regulation of OOP voting. ER0008. Simply, the
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OOP regulatory scheme did not cause the claimed disparity.

Instead, as the district court explained, Plaintiffs had attributed
incidents of OOP voting not to the requirement that OOP ballots not be
counted, but instead to “systemic problems in Arizona’s administration
of elections,” without Plaintiffs actually challenging any of those
“problems.” ER0008-09.1% By Plaintiffs’ own admission, then, OOP
voting was allegedly caused by societal issues wholly outside of
government control. See Dkt. Entry 11, at 3 (recognizing additional
causes). Plaintiffs’ claim thus fails under Gonzalez. See Gonzalez, 677
F.3d at 405 (“[Plroof of causal connection between the challenged voting
practice and a prohibited discriminatory result is crucial.”)(internal
quotation marks omitted).

Plaintiffs contend that this alternative factual analysis was
erroneous because they were “not required to challenge or seek to
rectify every aspect of the electoral system that may be flawed.” Dkt.
Entry 2-1, at 14; Dkt. Entry 11, at 3. But, Plaintiffs fail to appreciate

that they cannot rely solely on a challenge to the OOP regulatory

18 As repeatedly raised before the district court, Plaintiffs have not
challenged any Arizona statute as allegedly violating § 2 (or the
Constitution). ER0014.
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scheme, a long-standing system that does not actually cause the
disparities of which they complain. See Gonzalez, 677 F.3d at 405
(challenged practice must cause complained of disparity). Indeed, as the
district court recognized, Plaintiffs’ requested relief will not prevent
continued OOP voting or voters from receiving the wrong ballot—
without all races in which they are eligible to vote—should they show
up at the wrong precinct in the General Election. See ER0014.19 As
Plaintiffs failed to meet its burden that they would likely succeed on the
merits as to step one of their § 2 claim, the mandatory preliminary
Injunction request was properly denied by the district court.

2.  Plaintiffs Failed to Show the Requisite Causal Link

Between the Out-of-Precinct Regulation and Their
Selective Senate Factor Evidence.

If a plaintiff is able to show a disproportionate burden exists and
the challenged voting qualification causes that disparity, a plaintiff

must then overcome the second step that requires a showing that the

19 Additionally, Plaintiffs cannot show a § 2 violation when Arizona
extends to all voters the same opportunity to identify and vote at their
assigned polling place. Frank, 768 F.3d at 754 (“It is better to
understand § 2(b) as an equal-treatment requirement (which is how it
reads) than as an equal-outcome command (which is how the district
court took it”). Voters who fail to satisfy this minimal hurdle have not
been not denied an equal opportunity to participate in the political
process.
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“challenged voting standard or practice causes the discriminatory
impact as it interacts with social and historical conditions.” Husted,
2016 WL 4437605, at *14; see also Gonzalez, 677 F.3d at 405-06.

Because Plaintiffs failed to show a likelihood of success on the first
step of a Section 2 claim (disparate impact), the district court had no
need to reach the second step. Regardless, and in the alternative, the
district court also correctly held that Plaintiffs failed to show a
likelihood of success at the second step of their § 2 claim because they
“only loosely linked the observed disparities in minority OOP voting to
social and historical conditions that have produced discrimination.”
ER0009.

In particular, the district court explained that Plaintiffs relied on
a contention that “historical discrimination in employment, income, and
education has had lingering effects on the socioeconomic status of racial
minorities.”20 /d. The district court rejected Plaintiffs’ factual argument

that these lingering socioeconomic disparities were enough to show

20 In their Reply in Support of Their Motion for Injunction Pending
Appeal, Plaintiffs acknowledge that other practices are actually at issue
for voters casting ballots in the wrong precincts. 